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PENSION SCHEMES ACT 1993, PART X

DETERMINATION BY THE DEPUTY PENSIONS OMBUDSMAN
	Applicant
	:
	Mr J A Hughes

	Scheme
	:
	The Local Government Pension Scheme (LGPS)

	Respondent
	:
	Isle of Anglesey/Ynys Môn County Council (as Employer)


MATTERS FOR DETERMINATION 

1. Mr Hughes says that:
1.1. he was incorrectly refused ill health early retirement benefits under the LGPS;

1.2. he was incorrectly told that there was no appeal against the decision of the independent medical practitioner that he was not permanently incapacitated:

1.3. his employer failed to furnish him with extracts from the Regulations dealing with ill health early retirement.
2. Some of the issues before me might be seen as complaints of maladministration while others can be seen as disputes of fact or law and indeed, some may be both.  I have jurisdiction over either type of issue and it is not usually necessary to distinguish between them. This determination should therefore be taken to be the resolution of any disputes of fact or law and/or (where appropriate) a finding as to whether there had been maladministration and if so whether injustice has been caused.

MATERIAL FACTS

3. Mr Hughes was employed by Isle of Anglesey/Ynys Môn County Council (Ynys Môn). He commenced a period of long term sickness on 26 March 1999.

4. In January 2000, when Mr Hughes had been absent from work for about eight months, he was told that Ynys Môn wished to make a decision about his employment. On 2 March 2000, Ynys Môn’s Assistant Director of Central Service – Personnel, wrote to a Dr Owen, a Senior Occupational Health Physician for the North West Wales NHS Trust, 
“The above named has been employed by our Social Services Department since the Local Government Reorganisation in April 1996, but has been absent from work because of arthritis since 26 March 1999.

We now need to make a final determination on whether or not he is to continue in our employment and would appreciate your advice on his current state of health and a long term prognosis on his condition before doing so.

I should point out that due to the restructuring of the Social Services Department Mr Hughes would not be able to return to the post he held when he was off sick in March 1999. I am therefore enclosing a description of the type of post that could be available to him should he return in the near future.”
5. Mr Hughes saw Dr Owen on 3 April 2000. Dr Owen wrote to Ynys Môn on 10 April 2000,
“... Unfortunately there has been no improvement in Mr Hughes’ condition since I last saw him in November of last year. Mr Hughes is currently undergoing an intensive course of treatment and his medical condition is under review with the specialist at Ysbyty Gwynedd.

I am of the view that at present he is not fit to return to work as Team Leader/Customer Care Manager and also he is not fit to work as a Social Worker. I believe it is likely that he will remain unfit for at least the next three months pending the outcome of treatment.”
6. No decision was made, at that point, by Ynys Môn about Mr Hughes’ employment.

7. Ynys Môn’s Head of Corporate Service wrote to Dr Owen, on 6 March 2002,
“I refer to the above-named, whom I believe you last saw during April 2000.

Mr Hughes has been absent since March 1999; he is currently out of pay but remains in the employment of the Authority.

Following a meeting with Mr Hughes on 21 February 2002, it transpired that Mr Hughes has been advised that his medical condition appears to be continuing to deteriorate and is preventing him from returning to work. Mr Hughes is also of the opinion that other issues relating to the Authority are compounding his condition. In an attempt to alleviate some of Mr Hughes’ concerns, the Director of Housing and Social Services did confirm that Mr Hughes does still have a job with the Authority and that arrangements could possibly be made to allow him to work from home to facilitate his return to the world of work.

As a result of the above meeting, it was agreed that we refer Mr Hughes to you with a view to obtaining your opinion on his current medical condition and whether or not Mr Hughes is, or will be, fit to return to work in the future.”
8. On 1 April 2002, the Local Government Pension Scheme (Amendment No.2) Regulations 2001 came into force. These amended the process for the consideration of ill health retirement, requiring certification from an independent medical practitioner qualified in Occupational Medicine and not previously involved in the case under review. Gwynedd Council (the appropriate administering authority) (Gwynedd) produced a list of approved medical practitioners. This included (amongst others) Dr Owen and a Dr Denman.
9. On 29 April 2002, under the cover of a compliments slip, Mr Hughes was sent a copy of the changes to the Regulations. Mr Hughes says that he did not receive this document.

10. Mr Hughes was seen again by Dr Owen on 25 April 2002. Following this consultation, Dr Owen wrote to Ynys Môn, on 1 May 2002,
“I saw Mr Hughes in clinic this morning 25th April. Since I last saw Mr Hughes in April 2000 there has been very little change in Mr Hughes’s medical condition and he remains under the care of a specialist at Ysbyty Gwynedd who he sees on a regular basis. I am of the opinion that Mr Hughes is unfit to continue for the foreseeable future as Customer Care Manager with Ynys Mon County Council and at present he is also unfit to undertake alternative work. I discussed the situation at length this morning with Mr Hughes and I understand that he wishes to apply for ill health retirement.”
11. Mr Hughes made a formal application for ill health early retirement, which was received by Ynys Môn on 21 June 2002. His application form showed that he had been on sickness leave since 26 March 1999 and the reason given was “primarily arthritis”.

12. On 21 May 2002, the Head of Corporate Services wrote to Dr Owen,

“In accordance with the Local Government Pension Scheme (Amendment No 2) Regulations 2001, which came into effect on 1 April 2002, I would be grateful if you will collect the necessary medical evidence and forward this, along with the attached form to our preferred Authorised Independent Medical Practitioner i.e. Dr ... Denman …

To assist with the process, I enclose a copy of the substantive job description which applied to Mr Hughes’ post before he went on sick leave. In the meantime, there has been an alteration to the Establishment and this would not have been the job available to Mr Hughes had he been able to return to work. However, as previously stated, the Corporate Director has assured Mr Hughes that a job would be available and arrangements could have been made to assist his return had this been possible.”
13. On the same day the Head of Corporate Services wrote to Dr Denman,
“I write to you as a result of the recently introduced Local Government Pension Scheme (Amendment No 2) Regulations 2001.

In accordance with the above, Dr ... Owen, Consultant Occupational Health Physician at Bangor has confirmed his opinion that the above-named employee is unfit to continue for the foreseeable future in his post and, at present unfit to undertake alternative work. As a result, and because Mr Hughes wishes to apply for ill-health retirement, I have asked Dr Owen to forward the necessary paperwork to you, along with the agreed pro-forma, so that you can consider whether or not Mr Hughes meets the LGPS criteria for early retirement.”
14. Dr Owen’s report to Dr Denman consisted of a completed form to which were attached clinical notes. The form noted the diagnosis of Mr Hughes’ condition as arthritis, with onset in 1991, and included a summary of his past medical history, and present medical state, including how the diagnosis affected the member’s ability to carry out his job.  In this section, Dr Owen had noted,

“recurring joint pain every 2 weeks affecting most joints” 

“Mr Hughes would be unable to work as Customer Care manager/team leader due to the recurring joint pain.”
In the section about long term prognosis, Dr Owen had written, 

“likely to be a chronic incapacitating condition”

In the section asking, “will the member be incapable of efficiently discharging the duties of their current employment (or comparable employment) until the age of sixty five?”, Dr Owen had written,

“Yes – I believe so.”
15. Dr Denman completed the Ill Health Certification form, required under Section 97 of the Regulations, on 6 August 2002 (this was Part A of the form). Mr Hughes says that Dr Denman did not examine or interview him. Dr Denman certified,
“1. In my professional opinion, this employee is not permanently incapable, by virtue of ill health or infirmity of mind or body, of discharging efficiently the duties of his local government employment until at least his 65th birthday.

2. This employee is not capable at present of undertaking the duties of available comparable employment.

3. I also certify that, in my opinion the above named person has a life expectancy of 1 year or more.”
16. Part B of the form related to comparable employment, and required the LGPS employer to confirm whether there was or was not a suitable comparable employment available for the employee. That section was left blank.
17. Ynys Môn’s decision, that Mr Hughes was not eligible for ill health early retirement, was notified to him, at a meeting, on 3 September 2002.

18. Mr Hughes wrote to Ynys Môn’s Director of Housing and Social Services, on 28 October 2002, enclosing a further certificate from his doctor. He said that he was disappointed not to have received information he had previously requested, because he wanted to prepare an appeal against the decision not to grant him ill health retirement. Mr Hughes said that he had not received any written confirmation of Ynys Môn’s decision or the means of appeal.
19. On 8 November 2002, Ynys Môn’s Head of Corporate Services wrote to Mr Hughes,
“I refer to the meeting on 3 September 2002 with the Director of Housing and Social Services ... and the Personnel Manager ... during which the decision of the Authorised Independent Practitioner, Dr G Denman was brought to your attention. The Independent Practitioner resolved that, in his professional opinion, you are not permanently incapable, by virtue of ill health or infirmity of mind or body, of discharging efficiently the duties of your local government employment until at least your 65th birthday. He did confirm that, at present, you are not capable of undertaking duties of available comparable employment.

If, as a result of the above mentioned decision, the Authority were to terminate your employment, your employment would come to an end on the basis of your current ill-health but you would not be able to receive your pension benefits. You have already indicated that you cannot see a time in the future when you would be able to return to work but, on the basis of Dr Denman's professional opinion we are, at present, prepared to retain you on the Council's “books” without pay for the foreseeable future with the view of allowing time for your health situation to improve so that you can return to work. In addition to this we will periodically keep in contact with you to monitor the situation and, as previously indicated, would be prepared to adopt flexible working practices e.g. working from home, to help facilitate your return to work in the future.

...
At present there is no system for appeal against the decision of the Occupational Health Physician. You may however wish to make your own independent medical representations to us based on advice from an independent medical practitioner.

If, in future, the Authority was to take the decision to dismiss you on health grounds, you would still be unable to receive your pension benefits. However, if a decision was taken to dismiss, as stated above, you would be able to appeal directly to the Superannuation Section for further consideration. The Superannuation Section would advise you of the process to be followed, at the appropriate time and advise you that you would be eligible to receive deferred benefit at age 60. As previously stated, you may wish to obtain an independent medical opinion (and present supportive documentary evidence), at this time, and use this now as a basis for an appeal to the Superannuation Section. In order to enable this process to proceed, you would need to ask the Authority to terminate your employment now. In the meantime, and providing we receive your prior permission, we are prepared to write to the independent occupational practitioner to ask for further clarification in relation to the opinion already provided.

In the meantime, I reaffirm that, at present, the Authority will retain you as an employee for the foreseeable future.

Further to your letter dated 28 October 2002, I was under the impression that the additional information required had been forwarded to you. If, however, there is anything else you require, I would be grateful if you will specify your requirements and the necessary information will be forwarded. Additionally, your statement that it was suggested to you that you resign your post is refuted - on the contrary, as this letter confirms, we have always suggested that there are options available to help facilitate your return to work, bearing in mind your medical condition.”
20. On 13 February 2003, Dr Owen wrote to Mr Hughes,
“I write with regard to a letter I have recently received from your GP Dr Pritchard concerning your application for ill health retirement. I am of the view that your application for ill health retirement would be more likely to be accepted by Dr Denman if I could send him an update of your report from Professor Maddison with regard to your medical condition. If you agree, please would you sign and return to myself the consent form allowing myself to write to Professor Maddison for an update with regard to your arthritis. I would then send that report to Dr Denman as fresh evidence and in support for your application for ill health retirement.”
21. Mr Hughes’ Consultant Rheumatologist (Professor Maddison) wrote to Dr Owen, on 11th September 2003,
“I reviewed Mr Hughes on 21st August 2003. Based on this assessment, I entirely agree with your view that he qualifies to retire from his present position on health grounds and would like to add my support to his case.

He was first seen in the Rheumatology Department in 1991 when the diagnosis of psoriasis related spondylarthritis was made. He coped with symptomatic treatment until the condition flared in 1998 after which he was established on the anti-rheumatic drug, ...  He responded to this initially but, during the past year, has experienced progressively worse pain mainly affecting his neck, shoulder girdle, lower back and hips. The severity varies from day to day but often he has generalised pain and stiffness throughout the day, seriously affecting upper limb function and mobility so that he needs help from his wife even with basic day to day tasks.

These symptoms are accompanied by marked fatigue and disturbed sleep. He continues to take ... and ... for joint inflammation.

On examination he was tense and anxious. There was little objective evidence of peripheral joint arthritis but I was able to demonstrate wide spread tender points in a distribution typical of fibromyalgia.

Mr Hughes definitely has a psoriasis-related spondylarthropathy which has now been complicated by fibromyalgia. In my view, the current stress resulting from his employment problems has made a major contribution to developing fibromyalgia.

Both conditions are chronic, permanent and likely to be progressive despite appropriate treatment. In my view he is not capable of undertaking the duties of his post, or comparable work, and that his incapacity is permanent.”
22. Upon receipt of Professor Maddison’s letter, Dr Owen wrote to Mr Hughes (on 6 October 2003). He confirmed that he had received Professor Maddison’s report, and asked if Mr Hughes wished it to be forwarded to Dr Denman in support of his application for ill health retirement.

23. Mr Hughes replied on 9 October 2003,
“Thank you for notifying me that Professor Maddison has sent his report to you.

My employer has stated that I have no process of appeal unless I firstly resign my post.
I have contacted a solicitor ... Her response was that this statement is incorrect ...
The matter is presently being investigated by Mr Albert Owen, M.P. for Anglesey. Unfortunately his letters, advising me of developments, state that the Council have not responded to his request for information …
At present I am unable to submit my appeal unless these important legal issues are resolved …

I will contact you as soon as I have news that will enable this appeal to proceed.”

24. As a consequence of Mr Hughes’ letter, Dr Owen did not alert the Council to the existence of the additional medical evidence, or forward it to Dr Denman.

25. Mr Hughes wrote to Ynys Môn’s Managing Director, on 15 January 2004. He asked to be sent a copy of the Regulations covering ill health retirement. Mr Hughes explained that he had consulted the Occupational Pensions Regulatory Authority (OPRA) (now the Pensions Regulator) and had been advised to obtain a copy of the Regulations. He also asked for a copy of Ynys Môn’s policy on answering letters and requests for information and whether they treated requests from members of the public differently to those from MPs.

26. Mr Hughes wrote to Ynys Môn’s Managing Director again, on 26 January 2004,
“My letter requesting information concerning the LGPS has not resulted in any information or literature being sent to me. 

I have therefore made contact directly with the Gwynedd [LGPS] as well as OPRA who are the regulatory body monitoring complaints about occupational pension schemes.

The Gwynedd [LGPS] advise me that they have not received any application from you regarding my request to leave work on medical grounds. The decision to refuse my application was therefore taken by Anglesey County Council themselves.

Further to this OPRA advise me that the information, given by ... in his letter date 8th November 2002 is incorrect. I do have the right to appeal and do not have to resign in the first instance ... This information was also confirmed today by the Gwynedd [LGPS].
…

It is my understanding therefore that you should have acted on my request for an appeal and that an appeal process should be instigated immediately. To support this appeal I am advised that Doctor Owen ... has received a comprehensive report from Professor P J Maddison MD FRCP who has treated my condition for the past fourteen years. In addition to this, my General Practitioner, Dr Pritchard ... can provide medical information in respect of my condition.

Professor Maddison has intimated that my condition has deteriorated as a result of my continued employment problems, caused by Anglesey County Council. I have requested from [Director of Housing & Social Services and the Personnel Manager] that they should pay attention to this problem. Those requests were ignored and I was finally told to sort them out for myself…”
27. Mr Hughes also approached the pensions advisory service (TPAS) for assistance, on 28 January 2004.

28. On 17 February 2004, Gwynedd wrote to Mr Hughes,

“Before I can determine what benefits you will become entitled to under the above pension regulations, Ynys Môn County Council will have to make a decision as to whether or not to terminate your employment.

The appeals procedure for the above regulations is as follows:-

If you are not satisfied with the way your benefits have been calculated please contact the Pensions Manager ... to discuss the matter. If you are not satisfied with the explanation you have a formal right of appeal.

The appeals procedure is in two stages. The first stage is to appeal through Gwynedd’s Internal Dispute Resolution Procedure. For this purpose the Council has appointed a panel of suitably qualified officers to hear appeals ...
If you are not satisfied with the decision of the panel you may then proceed to the second stage and appeal to the Secretary of State ...”

29. Ynys Môn’s Head of Corporate Services responded to Mr Hughes’ letter, on 19 February 2004,
“Although I have not had direct personal contact with you in this matter, I find it difficult to accept certain of the assertions which you have made in your letter to [Ynys Môn’s Managing Director].

We are certainly aware of your long-standing medical condition and the affect it has had on your ability to undertake the duties and responsibilities of your substantive post.

Your departmental director, in my understanding, continues to regard you as a valued professional and manager - one whom he would wish to assist to continue in meaningful employment within Social Services. Indeed your employing department sought to sustain your work in your absence until a point when it became necessary to make permanent arrangements, at which time, with your knowledge, a decision was taken to transfer you to a “holding register” situation, recognising your continued employment with the Council and with the assurance that you would be offered a comparable post suitable to your health condition and consistent with your qualifications and experience at such time as you were in a position to resume working. Along the way I believe that you have been offered other alternatives including a transfer to a post better suited to sustain your employment and also arrangements which would permit you to work at home or some other more suitable location.

At no time have you been requested or required to resign your post or even to consider that course of action. You currently remain a permanent employee of this authority.

These and other points were covered in the letter forwarded by my colleague ... in, I believe, November 2002.

I do find it difficult to accept your allegation that you were told ... to sort things out yourself. On the other hand, it has been reported to me in the past by another member of my staff that you had made it clear that officers of the authority were not welcome at your home - which has obviously restricted the extent of welfare etc., contact with yourself. Indeed I understand that in their latest visit ... were basically “shown the door” despite their efforts to be supportive and helpful to you. At that meeting, it was reported to me that you stated that you were simply awaiting the Council’s notice of dismissal so that your legal advisors could institute proceedings against your employer.

As regards the issue of ill health retirement, the Council has sought to act in accordance with the requirements and spirit of those guidelines established nationally and regionally for dealing with such cases and has not varied from those guidelines in your case.

The process has previously been explained to you, as has the decision by the second opinion occupational health specialist, that he could not confirm that your current ill health would continue until your 65th birthday. This assessment effectively barred your immediate access to an occupational pension on grounds of ill health, should the Council have taken an immediate decision to terminate your employment. Both in the hope of an eventual improvement in your condition and a return to work and/or finding a solution to the apparent impasse in cases such as your own, your situation as a permanent employee has been sustained.

You were invited ... at your last meeting - confirmed in writing - to offer further evidence in respect of your medical condition, if this was available. I assume that your reference to a comprehensive report from Professor Maddison relates to that invitation. We were not aware of that report prior to receipt of your recent letter and whilst Doctor Owen has confirmed his knowledge of the document, we have no idea of the timing of its submission. If it was presented as part of the earlier assessment, then both our own advisor, Doctor Owen and the second opinion doctor would both have taken the report into account in their assessment. If it has been presented subsequent to those assessments, then clearly it has not been considered.

Our deliberations on a way ahead have reached a conclusion within the last few days and a report proposing a procedure for the future will be presented for approval.

In the light of our deliberations, it is our intention to request a further medical assessment, based on a personal examination, rather than by assessment of your medical file, by an occupational health specialist, following which you will be consulted on the findings and the next steps in relation to your employment with the County Council.

Our understanding of the process is that if the Council makes a decision to terminate your employment without access to the benefits of the pension scheme, a two stage appeals process is available to you. There is an initial avenue of appeal to the pension fund administrators - in our case Gwynedd County Council - and which would require the Council to make a declaration on your case within a specified period. In the event that you were dissatisfied with the local appeal decision, you have a second avenue of appeal via the Office of the Deputy Prime Minister in London. I am sure that the Pensions section at Gwynedd County Council would be able to provide further details on their local appeals process in such cases.
I would hope that we can now resolve your situation expeditiously and without the necessity of invoking any appeals process. Indeed I offer my personal intervention in an effort to assist, if you are prepared to accept a visit from me or are willing to meet me at some venue suitable to yourself. Perhaps you will contact me direct on this offer ...”
30. Gwynedd wrote to Mr Hughes again, on 5 March 2004, in response to a query from him,

“... as no decision has been made on your employment status, you are still an active member of the [LGPS], still accruing pensionable service until such time as Ynys Môn Council terminate your employment.

In order for any pension entitlement to be paid out on the grounds of ill health this department must receive a completed ill health certificate from a suitably qualified Occupational Health Doctor, stating that the member is medically unfit to perform the duties of his/her employment up to and including the age of 65.

I apologise in that I cannot offer more assistance but this dispute must be resolved between yourself and your employer Ynys Môn County Council.”

31. Subsequent attempts, with the assistance of TPAS, to resolve Mr Hughes’ dispute were unsuccessful.

32. On 5 December 2004, Mr Hughes instigated the Internal Dispute Resolution (IDR) procedure. Mr Hughes says that neither acknowledgement nor response was received from Ynys Môn.
33. Ynys Môn’s Communications Officer wrote to Mr Hughes, on 14 December 2004, setting out their policy on responding to correspondence. This said that they should be able to respond to the majority of letters within five working days, either with an acknowledgement or a full response. The policy acknowledged that some Council services would have different performance standards and that these should be followed, where appropriate. The policy noted that research or consultation might be required in some cases and that staff should respond to internal requests for information as quickly as possible. The policy concluded with the statement that, where no separate performance standard existed, an individual should normally be entitled to receive a full response, in his/her chosen language, within 15 working days. Where this was not possible, the policy required an explanation for any delay to be sent to the individual and, where the delay was considerable, this should be every 15 days.
34. Mr Hughes applied to my office on 9 February 2005.

35. On 4 March 2005, Ynys Môn’s Head of Corporate Services wrote to Mr Hughes,
“… I acknowledge that you should have had a response earlier and can but offer my sincere apologies in that respect.
I must, of course remind you of my earlier attempt to resolve this issue, which you rejected. Whilst my name is naturally on the correspondence which you have received over a period of time, our internal arrangements are such that I do not become involved in day to day issues unless, as in your case, a more senior, independent arbiter is required to secure a resolution. This is not a matter of “passing the buck”, merely a reinforcement of that independence.

In response to the points you raise in your letter, I have previously acknowledged, through consulting with Dr. Owen, that I became aware of the further evidence provided by Professor Maddison ... Unfortunately, as far as I can ascertain, neither your specialist or yourself took steps to advise your employer of the presentation of additional evidence - in circumstances where Dr. Owen considered the file on your case closed - unless approached for further involvement by the Council. If we had knowledge of the existence of correspondence we could and would have acted sooner ...
As regards your comments about Dr. Denman, he is one of a number of occupational health specialists in North Wales to whom we have access and he is formally recognised for purposes of the Pension Scheme where decisions on access to benefits are necessary.

The decision on access to the pension scheme by Dr. Denman was based on the medical evidence available to him at the time - long before any additional information/advice offered by Professor Maddison.
As indicated in my earlier letter, in the light of a small number of cases including your own, where despite the view of the Council's Occupational Health Advisor, the medical specialist responsible for the decision on access to pension rights had concluded that he could not confirm that the health situation viz a viz (sic) work would persist to the sixty-fifth birthday, there has been need to formulate an approach to dealing with these cases. Such an approach has now been adopted by the Council and we are proceeding, successfully thus far, to resolve the other cases similar to your own. My intention in requesting a meeting had been to pursue a similar pathway with you, not as I recall you suggesting in one letter, to put some form of additional hurdle in your path.

As regards the request for written information, your records should show that with his letter of 7 June 2002, my colleague ... did in fact enclose the guidance available on the revised regulations and process. Similarly, I am aware that whilst you have complained that the authority has not provided the information you require, you had already received the advice from a pensions officer at Gwynedd County Council - letter dated 17 February 2004 and which was consistent with the advice offered in my letter of 19 February 2004.

I am of course able to present you with the required declaration on behalf of the County Council, but this will simply reiterate the current facts and position.

I remain firmly of the view that your case can be resolved to your satisfaction without the need to resort to formal procedures and would urge you to agree to that process which I am willing to personally pursue on your behalf. Similarly, I remain prepared to sit down with you on this matter at your convenience.”
36. On 26 April 2005, Dr Owen wrote to Mr Hughes,
“I have checked through your Occupational Health notes and I can find no letter from Anglesey County Council between the two months from the 5th December 2004 to the 5th February 2005. I received a report from Professor Maddison on 24th December 2003 but I have not sent a copy of that report to Dr Denman or any other Occupational Health Consultant for consideration and in this regard I refer you to the letter which I sent you dated the 6th October 2003 and the letter you sent me dated the 9th October 2003.”
37. Ynys Môn submitted a full response to Mr Hughes’ application, on 26 July 2005. Mr Hughes also submitted a full statement of his case and Ynys Môn were invited to comment on this by 22 August 2005. They responded by fax, on 26 August 2005, requesting an extension until 9 September 2005, which was granted, but no substantive response was received by that date.

38. In January 2006, my investigator sought further information from Ynys Môn, requesting details of the medical evidence considered by Dr Denman when declining Mr Hughes’ application for ill health early retirement. This was received direct from Dr Owen under cover of a letter dated 4 April 2006. No acknowledgment or response was received regarding the second point which was whether, following their letter to Mr Hughes dated 19 February 2004, a further personal examination of Mr Hughes had taken place and if so what the results were, or if not, why this had not taken place.
39. Further reminders were sent without acknowledgment or response until August 2006, at which point my Investigator found it necessary to write to Ynys Môn’s Managing Director. A response was promised by the end of August 2006, but nothing was received at my office. A further letter was sent to Ynys Môn’s new Managing Director, in November 2006. When replying, he enclosed a copy on an internal memo from the Head of Corporate Services, in which he said,
“The appropriateness of a unilateral referral to another occupational health specialist had been considered in the light of Mr. Hughes’ apparent rejection of the suggestion made by [TPAS] that there should be a meeting between Mr. Hughes and myself on behalf of the employer as the best way to move things forward. There was, however, some uncertainty and concern for Mr Hughes in terms of the risk of a further medical opinion in line with that of Dr. Denman.
During the same period, the whole issue of sickness absence management was being addressed internally via a review which subsequently made recommendations through which, we were able to resolve amicably all other outstanding cases affected by adverse second medical opinion (in relation to pension benefits).
The subsequent involvement of the Pensions Ombudsman, did lead, to a certain extent, in our “marking time” in anticipation of positive, constructive advice which would enable us to effect [Mr Hughes’] termination with his full pension benefits. However, in the light of the growing timescale, I personally organised a meeting with another occupational health specialist from the approved list, … and posed the question of whether it would be possible for that doctor to reassess the case, in the light of apparent medical opinion not available to Dr. Denman, and whether such assessment might be undertaken without the necessity of examining [Mr] Hughes. The doctor agreed to consider this and I understand that a formal request has subsequently been made together with a request for Dr. Owen to provide the same medical documentation which the Ombudsman himself requested.

I wish to note that in the light of the Ombudsman’s letter to ... I did forward a response by e-mail during August of this year. I am currently trying to identify it within my archive ...
As regards the Ombudsman’s invitation to make a response to [Mr] Hughes’ latest letter, I have been re-examining the file and should it be appropriate for me to respond, then I shall do so by the end of this month ...”

40. Ynys Môn next wrote to my office on 8 December 2006, saying,
“I have now received a response from the Independent Consultant Occupational Physician who indicates that he has fully considered the medical evidence and whilst noting the evidence from [Mr Hughes’] specialist which was not available to Dr Denman, he is unhappy to make a judgement after the further period of medical treatment without examining [Mr Hughes].

My Personnel team is writing to [Mr Hughes] to seek his cooperation in agreeing to an examination, which the independent physician is happy to undertake on a home visit basis, if necessary.

…
Whilst I cannot anticipate the outcome, I believe that the current step of a further examination will resolve the issue – as it would have done, with cooperation, two years ago.

Obviously, if there is a decision in [Mr] Hughes’ favour, we can immediately progress payment of his benefits which would of course reflect not only the statutory added years, but also the full period of accrued service to date, based on today’s value of the salary point [Mr Hughes] enjoyed prior to his absence. As you will no doubt be aware, there will also be other elements of payment in relation to notice, accrued holidays etc …”
41. Ynys Môn then wrote to Mr Hughes, on 11 December 2006,
“… in an attempt to progress the possibility of enabling you to have access to your Occupational Pension, we have written to another Independent Occupational Health Physician to ask if he would be prepared to consider your case, and provide his assessment  on your medical condition in accordance with the requirements and regulations of the Superannuation Scheme.
In accordance with the above, the physician we have contacted is Dr Charles Baron, Registered Specialist in Occupational Medicine, ... Dr Baron had indicated that he is prepared to consider your case, but in order to make a medical decision he would need to see you and, with this in mind is prepared to visit your home …”
42. The medical assessment took place with Dr Baron, on 5 March 2007, and Ynys Môn wrote to my office, on 9 March 2007,
“I am pleased to confirm that the County Council has now received a letter - dated 6th March 2007 – from the independent occupational health specialist, Dr. Baron, which confirms that he has visited and examined [Mr Hughes], has considered medical information from [Mr Hughes’] GP and studied the documentation provided by Dr Owen, the Council’s Occupational Health Medical Adviser. He has concluded that [Mr Hughes] meets the criteria for release of his ill health retirement benefits and has issued a certificate to that effect. He does stress that this is a current assessment and he made no comment on earlier medical condition.
We will now move quickly to arrange a meeting with [Mr Hughes], in accordance with procedure, at which the terms of his ill health retirement and the benefits accruing to him will be fully discussed, together with any rights of appeal.
As I see it, though [Mr Hughes] has not worked for a number of years, his full period service to the agreed date of termination will be recognised and he will be awarded the statutory added years in respect of ill health retirement. In addition, his benefits will of course be based on the full salary at current value at the date of his retirement.”
43. Mr Hughes wrote to this office, on 21 March 2007,
“Anglesey County Council have contacted me stating that [the Personnel Manager] has been appointed to “agree a mutually acceptable way forward” to resolve this dispute.

A meeting took place on Monday 19th March and I received a copy of Dr Baron’s assessment and a copy of the “Ill Health Certificate” stating that I can not work or undertake a comparable role.

…

It has been agreed that I am entitled to an occupational pension but specific issues need to be agreed.
I am pleased that there has been some dialogue and I have accepted an offer from the Managing Director to meet and try and agree terms.

There are however, issues that are problematic borne out of the fact that I have not worked for eight years. During that time Anglesey County Council has deleted my post. The senior personnel officer stated that “numerous reorganisation procedures and regrading processes have taken place” in the ensuing years.

... therefore problems re grading and salary have followed ...
This has resulted in a failure to agree on :~

The years service.

The current salary.

Arrears that are payable to backdate my payments to the date of my application.”
44. Mr Hughes went on to explain that it had been emphasised to him that Dr Baron’s certification was not retrospective and his eligibility for benefits was effective only from Dr Baron’s assessment. Mr Hughes expressed the view that there was a dispute between Ynys Môn and Gwynedd as to funding for any arrears, which might fall to be paid.

45. My Investigator spoke to Ynys Môn’s Personnel Manager, on 15 May 2007, to enquire whether Mr Hughes had been given a written quotation of the pension that he would be entitled to if he took ill-health early retirement. Her response was that Mr Hughes had not been quoted pension figures, he had only been made the offer of a pension, based on a Final Pay amount, with which he did not agree, on the assumption that he resigned from service. Mr Hughes was unwilling to tender his resignation until he understood his rights regarding an appeal against the value, and commencing date of his pension.

46. On 21 June 2007, Ynys Môn wrote to this office,
“The position regarding Mr Hughes is as follows – we are intending to terminate his employment so as to release his superannuation pension as soon as possible …

We have been reviewing the changes that have been made within his employing department, looking at positions he may have held and the level of pay he may have had had he not been absent from work. This is an option that could be far more beneficial to him and I sincerely hope that we can come to an agreement on this shortly.”
47. On 20 July 2007, Ynys Môn sent my Investigator a faxed copy of an ill health retirement quotation for Mr Hughes, which had been provided by Gwynedd and which they confirmed had been forwarded to Mr Hughes. The figures were based upon a retirement date of 24 May 2007, 41 years and 230 days of pensionable service (including an enhancement for ill health retirement) and a salary of £23,175. The resulting pension was £12,059.73 p.a. and the tax free lump sum was £36,179.19.
48. Ynys Môn wrote to Mr Hughes, on 31 August 2007,
“… Our Occupational Health Practitioner and the Independent Occupational Health Specialist have advised that they are of the view that you are permanently incapable of satisfactorily discharging your duties because of long term ill-health and as there is no realistic prospect of your return to work in the foreseeable future I intend to terminate your employment forthwith and arrange for your early retirement from work on the grounds of long term ill health.

I am mindful that the Ill Health Certification was issued on 6 March 2007 and that we could have arranged for you to retire at that time; I am therefore proposing that you be given the option to draw your superannuation pension from that date. The financial implications are set out on the attached sheet and I would appreciate it if you would inform me of your preference within the next two weeks. If I do not hear from you, I will arrange for you to receive a lump sum payment and pension as calculated in option 2. [Retirement at 31/8/2007] ...”
49. Mr Hughes was also informed that he would receive a payment in lieu of notice. Opting for retirement at 31 August 2007 meant that Mr Hughes would receive a slightly higher pension and lump sum because of a small increase in the salary and service used to calculate his benefits. The pension increased from £13,142.64 p.a. to £13,322.18 p.a. and the lump sum increased from £39,426.36 to £39,966.54. Mr Hughes has confirmed that he received a cheque for his lump sum, on 26 October 2007, and notification that his pension would be paid on the last working day of the month. These figures were based upon a pensionable salary of £25,437 and pensionable service of 41 years and 329 days.
50. Gwynedd have provided some figures for the benefits which might have been payable had Mr Hughes been granted ill health retirement on 31 March 2000. Based on a pensionable salary of £18,546 and pensionable service of 34 years and 182 days (including an enhancement of 6 years and 243 days), the pension would have been £7,997.65 p.a. and the lump sum would have been £23,992.93. The current value of the pension (including a pensions increase in April 2007) would be £9,635.57 p.a.
SUBMISSIONS
On Behalf of Ynys Môn
51. Ynys Môn submit:

51.1. Whilst it is probable that he would claim otherwise, Mr Hughes has not been entirely cooperative in this matter. Despite advice from TPAS, the Council’s attempts to convene face to face meetings with Mr Hughes have been rejected by him.

51.2. Mr Hughes’ period of absence – certificated as arthritis – began on 26 March 1999, following which, in accordance with the Council’s policy on sickness absence management, he was referred for assessment by the Occupational Health doctor at Ysbyty Gwynedd during June 1999 and subsequently.
51.3. Throughout the period to February 2002, Mr Hughes was firmly opposed to the suggestion of termination on health grounds. His employing directorate management were prepared to sustain the situation in the hope that, as a valued senior officer, he would be able to return to work.

51.4. During March 2002, Mr Hughes was referred for medical assessment. Dr Owen indicated that Mr Hughes was unfit for his duties for the foreseeable future. He indicated that Mr Hughes wished to be considered for early retirement on ill health grounds, but he did not submit a certificate of permanent incapacity, at that time.

51.5. At 1 April 2002, the Local Government Pension Scheme (Amendment No.2) Regulations 2001 came into force. They required a new process for certification of ill health retirement and certification from a medical practitioner qualified in Occupational Medicine and not previously involved in the case under review. A list of approved medical practitioners was produced by Gwynedd pension fund authorities, which included Dr Owen and Dr Denman, as well as others based in north east Wales.

51.6. Though not otherwise recorded on file, subsequent to Mr Hughes’ medical examination by Dr Owen, but prior to receipt of his medical opinion, there was a telephone conversation between Mr Hughes and the Council’s Personnel Manager. As a result of this conversation, a summary of the revised provisions and procedures was sent to Mr Hughes on 29 April 2002.
51.7. Subsequently, Mr Hughes’ case was referred to Dr Denman in accordance with the newly established procedure. The reference to Dr Denman as the Council’s “preferred” independent medical practitioner should not be construed as implying any compromise on independence. Rather, the decision to seek the involvement of Dr Denman was merely on the basis that he was the most conveniently located should employees have to attend a medical examination.
51.8. Following the decision by Dr Denman, in August 2002, Mr Hughes was visited by his departmental director and the Personnel Manager. He was advised of the outcome and the implications of Dr Denman’s decision and of the decision to retain him as an employee of the Council until such time as they could resolve the impasse facing both parties. Mr Hughes was subsequently sent a letter dated 8 November 2002 confirming the position.

51.9. Whilst explained rather “clumsily” in the letter dated 8 November, at the face to face meeting, Mr Hughes had been encouraged that, if his health worsened or changed significantly, he should seek to submit such fresh medical evidence as would enable the Council to pursue a fresh assessment.

51.10. The Council were fully aware of the appeal/disputes mechanism available to Mr Hughes had a decision been taken to dismiss him for ill health. However, in circumstances where Mr Hughes remained in the Council’s employ, the verbal advice they received, from the pension fund administrators, was that there was no means of appeal against Dr Denman’s decision – his further involvement was not permitted and their only avenue was to take the case to another independent practitioner for assessment. Their judgement was that further medical opinion was likely to confirm Dr Denman’s views and that the best course of action was as advised above. In the meantime his employment would be sustained.
51.11. On occasions, they rely heavily on advice from Gwynedd County Council (the Administrators). At a meeting in 2002 to introduce the new Regulations, two points were made:

· That, in future, employees would only be granted access to pension benefits upon presentation of the requisite certification that ill health was expected to continue to the employee’s 65th birthday; and

· That the assessment and certification had to be undertaken by an appropriately qualified occupational health specialist who had not previously been involved in the case.

51.12. It was their understanding that they could not involve Dr Owen or Mr Hughes’ GP because they were not independent within the meaning of the Regulations. Furthermore, they assumed that Dr Denman would have considered the opinions expressed by Dr Owen and Mr Hughes’ GP.

51.13. Regulation 27 (see Appendix) refers to circumstances where an employee leaves local authority employment by reason of ill health. Mr Hughes’ employment had not been terminated. It is, therefore, correct to say that there was no right of appeal available. There was no provision which would have enabled Mr Hughes to remain in full time employment with the Council and have access to his ill health retirement benefits. Gwynedd also advised Mr Hughes, in their letter of 17 February 2004, that he could not appeal to them until Ynys Môn had terminated his employment.
51.14. It is acknowledged that, during the period after 2002, there was a lack of contact between Mr Hughes and his employing department and, with no further request for assistance at that stage, with the Council’s Human Resources unit.

51.15. Mr Hughes’ case was one of a group referred during 2002 which resulted in similar conclusions, following independent medical advice, on access to pension benefits. These had received advice consistent with that for Mr Hughes. They were unable to secure any constructive advice from the Administrators and concluded that the only alternative was to refer the cases to a series of appropriately qualified independent physicians in the hope of securing certification. They did not think that this was in keeping with the spirit of the Regulations. They decided to keep the employees “on the books” until they found a solution.

51.16. During 2003/4 the Council undertook a detailed review of its sickness absence policies and processes. Cases like Mr Hughes’ – in terms of failure to secure certification for access to benefits – were considered, and a revised local procedure put into place based on the established guidance. For example, making it a requirement that the independent medical practitioner would physically examine the employee, not simply conduct a review of the original medical opinion. In this context, the remaining cases were all resolved to the individuals’ complete satisfaction during 2004. Had Mr Hughes been more cooperative in allowing a meeting to take place, they are confident that his would have been similarly resolved without recourse to the current processes.
51.17. Neither Mr Hughes, nor his specialist, nor Dr Owen advised the Council of the fresh medical evidence made available from Professor Maddison. Its existence came to light only at a later date during a discussion with Dr Owen. With no knowledge of the existence of the further medical information they had nothing to act upon on his behalf. They were not aware that this evidence had been withheld from them. Mr Hughes used the fact that they had apparently disregarded this evidence as a further reason to criticise them.
51.18. It became clear during exchanges which took place between the Personnel Manager and TPAS, that what was needed was a dialogue between the parties rather than an exchange of correspondence. The Council’s efforts to set up such a meeting were rejected and Mr Hughes subsequently made allegations that the Council’s efforts to arrange a further medical examination were simply attempts to be awkward and put additional hurdles in his way. The Council concluded that Mr Hughes was likely to refuse a further medical examination and waited until such time as the Council’s revised policy was formally adopted – since, albeit on a more informal basis, they had secured satisfactory outcomes in the other cases.
51.19. Summary details of the Regulations regarding ill health retirement were provided to Mr Hughes in April 2002; a copy of the Scheme Booklet had previously been supplied; and a copy of the Regulations was provided in June 2002. Mr Hughes had also received advice from the Scheme administrators in February 2004. They contend that Mr Hughes’ requests for information had been fully met on several occasions.

51.20. They have sought throughout to deal equitably and fairly with Mr Hughes.

By Mr Hughes

52. Mr Hughes submits:
52.1. Regular visits and reviews by his employer during his long term sickness absence did not take place and they failed to maintain contact for long periods. There was no visit after 2002 and two years had elapsed without contact from them prior to this.

52.2. The Council failed to answer or even acknowledge his letters, and it became necessary for him to send duplicate copies to various officers in order to ensure that the Council could not claim non-receipt.
52.3. He complained to the Council about the lack of response to his letters and received an apology.

52.4. The Council failed to provide him with the relevant extracts of the LGPS Regulations that he had requested. He advised them, on 15 and 26 January 2004, that he had not received them.
52.5. Dr Owen advised him to consider retiring after his examination, on 25 April 2002, and had done so several times in earlier medicals. Up to that point, he had declined because holding on to his work was important to him and giving up work was tantamount to giving in to his condition.

52.6. He has not seen any evidence which states that the Employer can nominate the independent medical practitioner. Nominating a specific doctor compromises their independence. Dr Owen is a consultant in his profession and would be able to decide who, from a nominated panel, had the correct experience and status to consider his report. Since Dr Denman did not interview or examine him, the reference to geographical location is irrelevant.

52.7. Dr Denman reached his conclusions without the benefit of a medical examination, without medical notes and without a conversation to establish the facts.

52.8. He was told verbally by the Council that there was no appeal against the decision of the Occupational Health Physician and he would need to resign before submitting additional medical evidence. This information was incorrect and also was encouraging him to take a course of action which would have seriously damaged his rights.
52.9. The Council failed to cooperate with TPAS when they attempted to mediate in his dispute, and also ignored the intervention of the local MP.
52.10. It was not the case that he was uncooperative or unwilling to attend a meeting. He has submitted an e-mail from his TPAS adviser, in which the TPAS adviser stated that Mr Hughes had been willing to attend a meeting with TPAS and Ynys Môn, but he had been unable to arrange a meeting. The TPAS adviser stated that Ynys Môn never returned his telephone calls or e-mails and that he had been told by Mr Hughes’ MP that he, too, had been unable to get a response.
52.11. The Council did not respond to his IDR application, although the Council’s letter of 4 March 2005 said that a ‘formal declaration’ would be sent after 14 March 2005. It never was sent.
52.12. The Independent Medical Practitioner did not examine him or have access to his medical history. He does not understand why the Council relied on someone who had not seen or examined him (and was appointed by themselves) rather then the evidence of two Consultants who had medically examined him over a period of time.

52.13. The Council ignored the medical report that Professor Maddison had forwarded to Dr Owen and had instead insisted that he attend a further medical examination. The Council had also declined to accept a report from his GP. The Council chose to accept Dr Denman’s opinion because they wanted to regulate who received a pension and they did not want him to receive one.
52.14. Following the Council’s letter dated 19 February 2004, he received no further communication from the Council regarding a further medical examination or any explanation as to why an examination had not been arranged.

52.15. He does not agree that the Council’s actions were well intended.

CONCLUSIONS

53. In order to receive a pension under Regulation 27, in 2000, Mr Hughes had to leave local government employment by reason of being permanently incapable of discharging his duties efficiently because of ill health. The decision, as to whether Mr Hughes would be entitled to a pension under Regulation 27, fell to be made by Ynys Môn, under Regulation 97(2), as his employer.
54. Before making a decision, as to Mr Hughes’ entitlement under Regulation 27, Ynys Môn were required to obtain the opinion of an independent registered medical practitioner, who was qualified in occupational health medicine. However, they were not bound by that opinion. The decision remained with Ynys Môn.
55. Although Dr Owen was asked, in the letter of 2 March 2000, for a long term prognosis, he was not asked for a certified opinion under Regulation 97(9). At that time, there was no requirement for the medical practitioner to certify that he had not been previously involved in the case or that he was not representing either party. These requirements came in with the 2001 Amendment Regulations. Ynys Môn do not appear to have considered Mr Hughes’ possible eligibility under Regulation 27 in 2000, preferring to retain him on their books; albeit without pay.
56. It has been argued that, in order to “access” benefits under Regulation 27, Mr Hughes’ employment had to cease. It is true that Regulation 27 refers to a member who has left local government employment. Whether the member’s employment ceases because of resignation or termination does not matter for the purposes of Regulation 27; the issue is whether the member has left because he is permanently incapable of discharging his duties through ill health. The decision, to terminate an individual’s employment, is, for the most part, an employment issue and, as such, does not fall within my jurisdiction. If, however, it were the case that an employer had attempted to deny an employee entitlement to benefit by refusing to terminate employment, that might be a different matter.
57. In this case, I have seen no evidence to suggest that Ynys Môn were attempting to deny Mr Hughes access to his benefits. They appear to have wished to keep his employment options open by keeping him on their books. Keeping Mr Hughes on the books in this way, i.e. without pay or pension, may have been well intended, but it was also unfortunate. I would not go as far as to say it amounted to maladministration, but it may have been kinder for Ynys Môn to have terminated Mr Hughes’ employment and allowed his pension entitlement to be resolved at an earlier date.
58. In Mr Hughes’ case, the situation persisted until 2002. By this time, the Regulations had changed and Dr Owen could not provide the certificate required under Regulation 97(9). The situation, however, was still the same as far as the decision, as to entitlement, was concerned; this was still for Ynys Môn to take. The evidence suggests that they considered themselves bound by Dr Denman’s opinion. They refer to having to take the case to another independent medical practitioner. In fact, they could have sought further advice from Dr Owen or Mr Hughes’ own doctors. Regulation 97(9) simply requires the decision maker to have obtained at least one certified independent opinion from an appropriately qualified occupational health physician; it does not limit the decision maker to this one opinion or even to the opinion of an occupational health specialist. The employer’s role is an active one, not a passive, rubber-stamping exercise. If there is evidence available to the employer which contradicts that given by the independent occupational health physician, there is nothing to stop the employer seeking further evidence from whichever source it considers appropriate in the particular case in front of it. 

59. Throughout the correspondence relating to Mr Hughes’ case, Ynys Môn refer to Dr Denman’s “decision”. Dr Denman was not called upon to make a “decision”; his role was to give an opinion.

60. Ynys Môn have explained that they relied on advice received from Gwynedd County Council (the administering authority). So far as the certification required under Regulation 97 is concerned, they say they were advised that certification had to be undertaken by an independent physician who had not previously been involved in the case. I would not disagree with that. However, this advice does not go so far as to say that no other medical opinion may be considered in making a decision. 

61. In Mr Hughes’ case, there was alternative evidence available to Ynys Môn; from Dr Owen (albeit from two years previously) and from Professor Maddison. Unfortunately, Ynys Môn did not get to see Professor Maddison’s report, because of Mr Hughes’ concerns as to his employment position. This is because he had been informed, erroneously, that he would have to resign in order to appeal. The way the situation was explained to Mr Hughes was that there was no appeal against the “decision” of the occupational health physician. The appeal should, in fact, have been against a decision taken by Ynys Môn.
62. Mr Hughes was then also told that he would have to ask Ynys Môn to terminate his employment, in order to appeal. The argument put forward to support this statement is that Regulation 27 requires a member to have left local government employment. However, Regulation 100 provided a right to apply to an appointed person where there was a disagreement about a matter in relation to the LGPS between a member and an employer. There is no requirement for the member to have left employment in order to apply to the appointed person. The member’s employment status may have a bearing on the merits of their case and the eventual outcome, but it is not a bar to an application under Regulation 100.
63. Again, Ynys Môn say that they relied on advice from Gwynedd in explaining the appeal procedure to Mr Hughes. They suggest that Gwynedd gave the same advice to Mr Hughes, in their letter of 17 February 2004. It is the case that Gwynedd said that Ynys Môn would have to make a decision as to whether or not to terminate Mr Hughes’ employment before they could determine what benefits he might be entitled to. This is not the same as saying that access to the appeal procedure required the termination of his employment.
64. I find, therefore, that there was maladministration on the part of Ynys Môn in telling Mr Hughes his employment must cease in order for him to appeal.

65. This brings me to the matter of whether or to what extent Mr Hughes has suffered any injustice as a consequence of the maladministration I have identified.

66. Gwynedd have kindly provided some figures for retirement in 2000. These figures indicate that Mr Hughes is now receiving a higher pension than he would otherwise be, had he retired in 2000. Both his pensionable salary and his pensionable service are higher in respect of the 2007 figures. The lump sum he received in October 2007 is also higher than the lump sum he would have received in 2000, even if interest (at 5% p.a.) is added to it. It is true to say that, for the period April 2000 to October 2007, Mr Hughes has not been receiving a pension, which he might possibly otherwise have done. However, in the long term (after approximately 2021) Mr Hughes will receive more by way of pension than he would otherwise have done. I am not persuaded, therefore, that Mr Hughes will suffer any financial loss, in the long term, as a consequence of the maladministration I have identified and may even be better off.
67. Injustice is not, however, confined to financial loss. I am satisfied that Mr Hughes will have suffered some distress and inconvenience as a result of the flaws in Ynys Môn’s handling of his case. I am, therefore, upholding his complaint against Ynys Môn. I consider some recognition of Mr Hughes’ distress and inconvenience is appropriate and have made directions accordingly.
68. With regard to Mr Hughes’ complaint that he was not provided with copies of the relevant Regulations, Ynys Môn have evidence to suggest that they did attempt to send information to him. Mr Hughes says that he did not receive the documents, but this is not evidence of maladministration on the part of Ynys Môn. I do not uphold this part of his complaint.

DIRECTIONS

69. I now direct that, within 21 days of the date hereof, Ynys Môn shall pay the sum of £200 to Mr Hughes.

CHARLIE GORDON

Deputy Pensions Ombudsman

18 March 2008

APPENDIX

The Local Government Pension Scheme Regulations 1997 (SI1997/1612) (as amended)

70. In April 2000, Regulation 27 provided,
“Ill-health

27.-(1) Where a member leaves a local government employment by reason of being permanently incapable of discharging efficiently the duties of that employment or any other comparable employment with his employing authority because of ill-health or infirmity of mind or body, he is entitled to an ill-health pension and grant.

(2) The pension and grant are payable immediately.

(3) ...
(4) ...
(5) In paragraph (1)- 

“comparable employment” means employment in which, when compared with the member's employment-

(a) the contractual provisions as to capacity either are the same or differ only to an extent that is reasonable given the nature of the member's ill-health or infirmity of mind or body; and

(b) the contractual provisions as to place, remuneration, hours of work, holiday entitlement, sickness or injury entitlement and other material terms do not differ substantially from those of the member's employment; and

“permanently incapable” means incapable until, at the earliest, the member's 65th birthday.”
71. Regulation 97 provided,
“First instance decisions

97.-(1) Any question concerning the rights or liabilities under the Scheme of any person other than a Scheme employer must be decided in the first instance by the person specified in this regulation.

(2) Any question whether a person is entitled to a benefit under the Scheme must be decided by the Scheme employer who last employed him.

(3) That decision must be made as soon as is reasonably practicable after the earlier of the date the employment ends or the date specified in the notification mentioned in regulation 8(3) [Leaving the Scheme]

(4) Where a person is or may become entitled to a benefit payable out of a pension fund, the administering authority maintaining that fund must decide its amount.

(5) That decision must be made as soon as is reasonably practicable after the event by virtue of which the entitlement arises or may arise.

...

(8) Other questions in relation to any member or prospective member must be decided by his employer as soon as is reasonably practicable after he becomes a member or a material change affects his employment.

(9) Before making a decision as to whether a member may be entitled under regulation 27 ... on the ground of ill-health, the Scheme employer must obtain a certificate from an independent registered medical practitioner who is qualified in occupational health medicine as to whether in his opinion the member is permanently incapable of discharging efficiently the duties of the relevant local government employment because of ill-health or infirmity of mind or body.

(10) If the Scheme employer is not the member's appropriate administering authority, before referring any question to any particular registered medical practitioner under paragraph (9) the Scheme employer must obtain the approval of the appropriate administering authority to their choice of registered medical practitioner.

...
(14) In paragraph (9)- 

(a) “permanently incapable” has the meaning given by regulation 27(5) and
(b) “qualified in occupational health medicine” means holding a diploma in occupational medicine (D Occ Med) or an equivalent qualification issued by a competent authority in an EEA State (which has the meaning given by the European Specialist Medical Qualifications Order 1995) or being an Associate, a Member or a Fellow of the Faculty of Occupational Medicine or an equivalent institution of an EEA State.”
72. Regulation 100 provided,

“Right to apply for an appointed person to decide a disagreement

100.-(1) Where there is a disagreement about a matter in relation to the Scheme between a member or an alternative applicant and a Scheme employer, the member or, as the case may be, the alternative applicant (“the complainant”) may-

(a) apply directly to the appropriate appointed person to decide the disagreement, or

(b) apply to the appropriate administering authority for them to refer the disagreement to an appointed person for decision.

...

(3) The application for a decision must set out particulars of the disagreement, including a statement as to its nature with sufficient details to show why the applicant is aggrieved.

(4) An application by-

(a) a member or prospective member,

(b) a person who ceased to be such a person during the period of six months ending with the date of the application, or

(c) a person claiming to be a person within paragraph (a) or (b),

must set out his full name, address, date of birth, his national insurance number (if any) and the name of his employing authority.

(5) An application by any other person must set out-

(a) his full name, address and date of birth,

(b) his relationship to the member, and

(c) the member's full name, address, date of birth and national insurance number and the name of his employing authority.

(6) The application must be signed by or on behalf of the applicant.

(7) The application must be accompanied by a copy of any written notification issued under regulation 98 [Notification of decisions under regulation 97]

(8) The application must be made before the end of the period of six months beginning with the relevant date or such further period as the appropriate appointed person considers reasonable (but see regulation 105(6) [Appeals by administering authorities]).

(9) Where the disagreement relates to a decision under regulation 97, the relevant date is the date notification of it is given under regulation 98.

(10) Otherwise, the relevant date is the date of the act or omission which is the cause of the disagreement or, if there is more than one, the last of them.”

The Local Government Pensions Committee Circular 113 – March 2002

73. This circular was prompted by the amendments to the LGPS Regulations applicable from 1 April 2002. It stated:

“The Local Government Pension Scheme (Amendment No. 2) Regulations 2001 [SI 2001/3401] introduced a requirement that, as from 1 April 2002, the approved independent medical practitioner who signs a certificate of permanent ill health or permanent infirmity of mind or body must be in a position to certify that:

a) he/she has not previously advised, or given an opinion on, or otherwise been involved in the particular case for which the certificate has been requested, and

b) he/she is not acting, and has not at any time acted, as the representative of the scheme member, the scheme employer or any other party in relation to the same case.

The implication is that the approved medical practitioner must be able to give an objective opinion based solely on the relevant medical evidence and free from any influence.”

The Occupational Pension Schemes (Internal Dispute Resolution Procedures) Regulations 1996 (SI1996/1270) (as amended)

74. Regulation 7 provided,
“Notice of decision from trustees or managers
7. (1)  Subject to paragraph (3), the trustees or managers of a scheme shall issue to the complainant and, where applicable, his representative a notice in writing of their decision on the matters raised under regulation 6 within two months from the date on which the particulars specified in regulation 6(2) were received by them.
(2)  The notice shall include — 

(a) a statement of the decision and an explanation as to whether and, if so, to what extent that decision either confirms or replaces the decision made under section 50(2)(a) of the Act;

(b) a reference to any legislation relied upon;

(c) a reference to such parts of any scheme rules relied upon and, where a discretion has been exercised, a reference to such parts of the scheme rules by which such discretion is conferred;

(d) a statement that OPAS (The Pensions Advisory Service) is available to assist members and beneficiaries of the scheme in connection with any difficulty with the scheme which remains unresolved and the address at which OPAS may be contacted; and

(e) a statement that the Pensions Ombudsman appointed under section 145(2) of the Pension Schemes Act 1993 may investigate and determine any complaint or dispute of fact or law in relation to a scheme made or referred in accordance with that Act and the address at which he may be contacted.

(3)  If, in any case, written notice of a decision under section 50(2)(b) of the Act is not issued within two months from the date on which particulars of the disagreement were received under regulation 6, an interim reply must immediately be sent to the complainant and, where applicable, his representative setting out the reasons for the delay and an expected date for issuing the decision.
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